
 

 

 
 
 
 
Please ask for Graham Ibberson 
Direct Line: 01246 345229 
Email  democratic.services@chesterfield.gov.uk 
 
 
The Chair and Members of Joint 
Cabinet and Employment & General 
Committee 

 

 26 January 2024 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 

Please attend a meeting of the JOINT CABINET AND EMPLOYMENT & 
GENERAL COMMITTEE to be held on MONDAY, 5 FEBRUARY 2024 at 11.00 
am in Committee Room 1, Town Hall, the agenda for which is set out below. 
 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1(Public Information) 
  

1.    Declaration of Members' and Officers' Interests relating to items on the 
Agenda  
  

2.    Apologies for Absence  
  

3.    Minutes (Pages 3 - 6) 
  

4.    Introduction of charging for the collection of garden waste (Pages 7 - 36) 
  

5.    Exclusion of Public  
 
To move “That under Regulation 21(1)(b) of the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements)(Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2000, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the following Paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A to the Local Government Act 1972.” 
 On the grounds that….. 

Public Document Pack



 

  
Part 2 (Non Public Information) 

  
6.    Transform visitor information service to digital delivery and review the 

use of visitor information centre (Pages 37 - 116) 
 
 

Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 

Head of Regulatory Law and Monitoring Officer 
 



JC&E&G 19.09.23 
1 

 
 

JOINT CABINET AND EMPLOYMENT & GENERAL COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 19th September, 2023 
 

Present:- 
 

Councillor J Innes (Chair) 
 
Councillors Holmes 

Baldauf-Good 
Brock 
Davenport 
Davies 
 

Councillors Falconer 
P Innes 
Staton 
Stone 
Culley 

 
*Matters dealt with under the Delegation Scheme 
  

8    DECLARATION OF MEMBERS' AND OFFICERS' INTERESTS 
RELATING TO ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
 
No declarations of interest were received. 
  
  

9    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Gilby, Serjeant and 
Sarvent. 
  
  

10    MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED – 
  
That the minutes of the meeting of Joint Cabinet and Employment & 
General Committee held on 18 July, 2023 be approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
  
  

11    EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED –  
  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



JC&E&G 19.09.23 
2 

 
 

That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in Paragraphs 1 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
  
  

12    HOUSING DISREPAIR CLAIMS - ADDITIONAL LEGAL CAPACITY  
 
The Local Government and Regulatory Law Manager presented a report 
seeking approval to establish two new posts in Regulatory Law to 
increase the Council’s in-house capacity and capability to deal with 
housing law casework, particularly disrepair claims. 
  
Since July 2021 the Council had been dealing with ever increasing 
numbers of disrepair claims submitted by external firms of solicitors on 
behalf of tenants. It was hoped that the increase in disrepair claims would 
be short lived, and so the Council had placed the claims handling work 
with external specialist solicitors.   
  
However, the number of disrepair claims had continued to rise and at the 
time of writing the report there were over 100 live cases lodged with 
external specialist solicitors. The costs of defending the claims was 
placing a heavy strain on the Housing Revenue Account and alternative 
approaches to the use of external specialist solicitors were now felt to be 
needed. 
  
The Council had been working with Derbyshire Law Centre (DLC), since 
January 2022, to provide an alternative way for tenants to pursue their 
disrepair claims against the Council. Bolsover and North East Derbyshire 
District Councils were also part of the project.  There were 29 live cases 
currently lodged with DLC. A further 17 cases had been closed, with the 
majority resolved without claims being formally issued to the courts. 
  
The project with DLC was proving very successful especially in terms of 
controlling costs to the HRA. However, it was felt that the Council would 
still benefit from appointing a full-time specialist housing law solicitor with 
experience of the disrepair claims process, together with a paralegal to 
assist them. This new in-house capacity and capability would be expected 
to deal with the full range of disrepair claims, as an alternative to the 
continued use of external specialist solicitors, with any spare capacity 
deployed to deal with other housing law related matters.  
  

Page 4



JC&E&G 19.09.23 
3 

 
 

The 2no. new posts would be established on a permanent basis and 
funded by the HRA. 
  
  
*RESOLVED –  
  
That the proposal to establish two additional posts in the Regulatory Law 
team, namely a solicitor and paralegal, for the purposes of increasing in-
house capacity for dealing with housing law and housing disrepair cases 
be approved. 
  
REASON FOR DECISION 
  
To help ensure the Regulatory Law service provides a cost effective and 
efficient legal service and support the Council and its Housing Directorate 
to deal with housing law casework, particularly disrepair claims. 
  
 
 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

For publication 
 

Introduction of charging for the collection of garden waste. 
 

Meeting: 
 

Joint Cabinet and Employment and General Committee 

Date:  
 

5 February 2024 

Cabinet portfolio: 
 

Climate Change, Planning and Environment 

Directorate: 
 

Leisure, Culture and Community Wellbeing 

For publication 
 
1.0 Purpose of the report 

 
1.1 This report sets out the results from a review of the current garden waste 

roadside collection arrangements and sets out the case for the introduction of 
an annual charge to residents to receive this service from 1 April 2024.  
 

1.2 This report has been developed in response to the recommendations set out 
in the Budget Implementation Strategy report that was presented to and 
agreed by Cabinet on 13 November 2023. 
 

1.3 Specifically, this report sets out information and recommendations pertaining 
to the stage 2 proposal within the budget implementation strategy regarding 
the `introduction of charging for the collection of garden waste. ` 
 

1.4 The suggested approach within the report has been developed in alignment 
with the Councils overall budget strategy and thematic interventions. 

 
2.0 Recommendations 

 
2.1 To approve the introduction of an annual fee for residents who wish to 

continue to use the kerbside garden waste collection service from 1 April 
2024. 
 

2.2 To cease the current free of charge service on 31 March 2024. 
 
2.3 To approve an annual subscription charge of £40 per annum for the service. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

2.4 To approve a year one only, early bird annual subscription charge of £30 for 
any resident subscribing to the paid garden waste collection service before 
01/5/24. 
 

2.5 To approve the allocation of up to £40,000 to enable the Service Director – 
Leisure, Culture and Community Wellbeing in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Climate Change, Planning and Environment to make appropriate 
adjustments to the current staffing arrangements within the Council’s waste 
management service to support the introduction of the paid garden waste 
service and its ongoing management. 

 
3.0 Reason for recommendations 

 
3.1 To comply with the Council’s Budget Strategy for recovering fees and charges 

to contribute to the costs of service delivery. 
 

3.2 To respond to the savings targets identified in the Budget Strategy 
Implementation Plan, which was approved in November 2023. This will enable 
the Council to work towards developing a balanced 2024/25 budget and 
MTFP. 

 
4.0 Report details 

 
Budget Strategy Context 

4.1 Like all local authorities, Chesterfield Borough Council continues to face 
significant financial challenges. The sustained period of austerity since 2010, 
the ongoing risks and uncertainties over future funding arrangements, the 
budgetary impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic, the cost-of-living crisis and a 
sustained period of exceptionally high inflation, have all impacted on the 
Council’s financial position.  
 

4.2 The Council’s Budget Strategy was approved by Council on 19 July 2023 and 
set out the need to drive out savings at pace, within a framework that was 
prudent, responsible, sustainable, and optimised to secure savings in the 
short- and medium-term to reduce and remove reliance on reserves, 
stabilising the Council’s financial position and establishing affordability of 
Council services.  
 

4.3 A detailed approach to addressing the budget gaps has been worked through 
with the Council’s Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) and Labour Cabinet 
members over the past few months drawing on the thematic interventions set 
out in the Budget Strategy.  

 

Page 8



 

4.4 The current economic climate and the prevailing high rates of inflation mean 
that the costs of delivering services are increasing, making it more important 
than ever that all services are delivered as efficiently and effectively as 
possible, embedding commercial operating principles to how budgets are set 
and managed. It is imperative that all budget holders are focused on 
minimising costs and waste and maximising appropriate income 
opportunities.  
 

4.5 This includes the need to ensure that fees and charges are regularly reviewed 
to ensure that wherever possible the costs of service delivery are recovered 
and that there is no cross subsidy from other service areas. This is particularly 
important for areas of discretionary spend, where the council does not have a 
statutory responsibility to deliver the service. 
 

4.6 The process for reviewing income potential has been revisited to take account 
of emerging factors including the prevailing economic conditions and the 
Council’s fees and charges policy has been reviewed following a deep dive 
into all key income generating areas. This corporate approach to effective 
management of fees and charges will ensure the Council maximises 
commercial opportunities to generate income from the delivery of chargeable 
services. Consideration has also been given to what opportunities there are for 
new income generation from statutory and non-statutory services.  
 

4.7 Charging for garden waste collections is an example of local authorities 
adapting to increased pressure on public sector funding through the directed 
provision of charged-for services to those that choose to use it. 
 
Background 

4.8 The collection of garden waste is a discretionary service for which the 
Council may make a reasonable charge under the Controlled Waste 
Regulations 2012 and as referenced above from the DEFRA update of 23 
October 2023.  

 

4.9 The Council has provided a non-chargeable garden waste service for many 
years but given the unprecedented financial pressures that the Council is 
facing and in accordance with the recently adopted fees and charges policy 
(12 December 2023) it is an appropriate time to consider the introduction of 
fees and charges for the kerbside collection of garden waste. 
 

4.10 The total cost of providing this service in 2023/24 is circa £672,000. This 
includes direct operating costs to Veolia (the Councils current contract 
provider for all its waste collection services) for garden waste of circa 
£625,000, as well as indirect costs of £47,000. The introduction of a paid 

Page 9



 

subscription-based service for garden waste would make a significant 
contribution to reducing the overall cost pressures faced by the Council whilst 
enabling the Council to continue to provide a valued service to those 
customers who choose to opt-in. 
 

4.11 Through Veolia, Chesterfield Borough Council provides a kerbside garden and 
food waste collection service as follows: 

• 44,300 households. 
• free of charge to residents 
• operates 12 months of the year. 
• 240 litre green wheeled bin (164 properties receive a sack 

collection where their property is not accessible to a standard 
refuse collection vehicle) 

• fortnightly collection 
 
4.12 Based on the Defra Consultation (May 2021), approximately 98% of 

local authorities in England provide a garden waste collection service. Of 
which approximately 65% charge for the service. 

 
4.13 Two out of the nine Derbyshire Councils currently charge for collections 

though Erewash are well advanced in their plans to start charging from 1 April 
2024. The fees at the time of writing this report across Derbyshire councils are 
shown below. 
 

Authority Annual 
fee 

Collection period Collection 
frequency  

Amber Valley £45 February - 
November 

fortnightly 

Bolsover  FOC All year fortnightly 
Chesterfield FOC All year fortnightly 
Derbyshire Dales £50 All year fortnightly 
Erewash £37 All year fortnightly 
High Peak FOC All year fortnightly 
North East 
Derbyshire 

FOC All year fortnightly 

South Derbyshire FOC All year fortnightly 
Derby City FOC All year fortnightly 

 
 

4.14 It is currently not permissible to charge for the collection of food waste. 
Therefore, if a charge for green waste collection service is implemented, food 
waste would revert to the residual (grey) bin for collection which will be 
reviewed in line with the evolving guidance from DEFRA. 

Page 10



 

 
4.15 Several changes are on the horizon in relation kerbside collections and how 

these will develop given changes around extended producer responsibility for 
packaging, deposit return schemes, simpler recycling for households and 
businesses and a weekly food waste collection service. 
 

4.16 It is our understanding that all councils will be required to implement a weekly 
food waste collection service from1 April 2026 an area of work which officers 
are currently reviewing.  
 

4.17 Due to the disposal arrangements with garden waste through the disposal 
authority (Derbyshire County Council) any changes in total volume will not 
impact on the recycling credits that Chesterfield Borough Council receives as 
garden waste sits outside this agreement. 
 

4.18 Collected material from the kerbside garden waste service is taken to a 
composting complex where material is deposited into a special container to 
ensure a high-quality product. 
 
Engagement and Consultation 

4.19 Budget conversation - The Council has engaged with residents and 
stakeholders on an ongoing basis through the budget process. A ‘budget 
conversation’ was launched in November, providing a general update on the 
Council’s budget, and capturing feedback on the thematic interventions and 
the generality of the savings proposals via a questionnaire available online 
and in hard copy from a number of venues in Chesterfield, Brimington and 
Staveley. 
 

4.20 The conversation asked questions relating to a number of themes, one of 
which related to increasing income to help reduce the Councils budget gap. In 
response 45.1% of respondents agreed / strongly agreed with this approach, 
17.6% neither agreed or disagreed and 37.3% of respondents either disagreed 
or strongly disagreed. These responses provide a helpful insight into residents 
and stakeholders views on the Council seeking to increase income in order to 
reduce its budget pressures.  
 

4.21 In addition to the above and to better understand residents’ thoughts on this 
matter and to give an indication of likely take up for the scheme a specific 
consultation exercise was undertaken between 20 December 2023 and 10 
January 2024 regarding this proposal. 
 

4.22 The budget conversation asked for views on the key Budget Strategy and 
Budget Implementation Plan themes, one of which was around increasing 

Page 11



 

income and behaving more commercially. 45.1% of respondents agreed / 
strongly agreed with this approach, 17.6% neither agreed or disagreed and 
37.3% of respondents either disagreed or strongly disagreed. These responses 
provide a helpful insight into residents and stakeholders views on the Council 
seeking to increase income in order to reduce its budget pressures. 
 

4.23 The consultation results from 1441 responses advised the service of the 
following. 

 
Do you currently use the existing garden waste service? 
 
Yes 97.9% 
No 2.1% 
 
If yes, how would you rate the current garden waste service? 
 
Very Good  55.9% 
Good   30.5% 
Average  12.7% 
Poor   0.6% 
Very Poor  0.2% 

 
The council is considering introducing a single annual charge for the 
collection of green waste. How likely are you to pay for this service? 
 
Very likely  7.1% 
Likely    14.9% 
Unlikely   22.0% 
Very unlikely  55.9% 
 
How likely are you to subscribe to a paid garden waste collection service if the 
following charges were introduced: Annual service (i.e. all year round) (Up to 
£45 per year:) 
 
Very likely   6.0% 
Likely    14.9% 
Unlikely   18.4% 
Very unlikely  60.7% 
 
If the chargeable garden waste service detailed above is implemented, how 
likely is it that you would subscribe for a second green bin, which would be 
chargeable at a reduced rate to that of your first bin? 
 

Page 12



 

 
Very likely   3.3% 
Likely    3.3% 
Unlikely   15.1% 
Very unlikely  78.3% 
 
If you choose not to subscribe to the garden waste collection service, how will 
you deal with your garden waste? 
 
Other         56.2% 
Household Waste recycling centre    31.3% 
Home compost       11.1% 
Use a commercial garden waste removal service  1.4% 
 

4.24 The results above have along with other communications received from 
residents informed the service design recommendations and approach. Where 
feedback has identified concerns regarding areas such as fly tipping for 
example, these have been referenced within the risk matrix in section 12 of the 
report. 
 

4.25 Currently the garden waste free collection service results in approximately 
8,440 tonnes per year being collected, including food waste. Based on 44,300 
households each getting 26 collections per year, kerbside collection currently 
equates to an average of less than 1kg per bin collection. Which means the 
typical bin is less than a quarter full when emptied. 
 

4.26 Households that produce a smaller amount of green waste will be encouraged 
to compost, as reflected in the consultation results with 11% of respondents 
indicating that this would be a preferred option. The council will investigate 
partnering with an organisation such as Get Composting to assess the 
opportunity for residents to purchase reasonably priced compost bins to 
manage their own garden waste. This is a more sustainable alternative to 
repeatedly collecting very small amounts of waste.  
 
Recommended Service Provision 

4.27 A comprehensive marketing and communications approach will be 
undertaken to advise residents of the changes to the scheme and set out their 
options to engage in the scheme. This communication will also make clear the 
implications of not participating in the scheme. 
 

4.28 The communications regarding the changes will also include advice and 
guidance on home composting, alternative garden waste disposal options and 
it will clearly set out that residents will continue to have the option to 

Page 13



 

subscribe to the service even if they initially decide not to progress with a 
subscription. The option to opt in will always remain open. 
 

4.29 Residents will be offered the opportunity to subscribe to the new paid for 
service. This subscription process will be overseen by the council’s customer 
services team (supported by colleagues in waste management) and will 
accommodate digital, telephone and in person enquiries. 

 
4.30 Once a resident has signed up and paid for the service, their garden waste 

collections would continue to be undertaken and the resident would not see 
any change to their current collection arrangements. 
 

4.31 Assisted bin collections would continue for those residents subscribing to the 
new scheme who need this support. 
 

4.32 For any residents choosing not to subscribe to the new service, the waste 
team would work with Veolia to consider options for the garden waste bins 
currently located at these households to be removed and or used for 
alternative purposes. 
 

4.33 Residents subscribing to the new paid for service would see no change to 
their current collection arrangements, this would continue in line with existing 
schedule once payment has been made. 

 
 
 
Fees and charges 

4.34 In setting the suggested fee for the collection of garden waste due 
consideration has been given to the newly adopted fees and charges policy. 
 

4.35 It is recognised that there are a range of different factors to consider in setting 
fees and charges including legislative requirements and constraints, the full 
cost of delivering services, benchmarking with other local authorities and 
potential impacts upon other policy objectives. As a minimum, where 
legislation allows, a full cost recovery model will be adopted. The revised fees 
and charges policy also explores options for increasing rates on a more 
frequent basis to ensure that cost pressures are recovered. 

 
4.36 In considering the appropriate price point the service has considered all 

associated ongoing operating costs for the delivery of the service.  
 

4.37 Operating costs include contract fees for the collection of the garden waste 
material, council overheads for the provision of this service including 

Page 14



 

administration both contractually and with regards to customer service. The 
additional one off and annual costs are shown in section 6 of this report 
pertaining to the new approach being recommended.  

 
4.38 Residents will not need to be supplied with a garden waste bin or to purchase 

a bin, as these are already in place.  
 

4.39 In considering all the points raised within the wider consultation and the 
range of operational considerations it is recommended that a fee of £40 is 
introduced for the kerbside collection of garden waste for the year 1 April 
2024 to 31 March 2025, which equates to a weekly cost of 77 pence for the 
service. 
 

4.40 In addition, it is also recommended that a year one early bird annual 
subscription charge of £30 for any resident subscribing to the paid garden 
waste collection service before 01/5/24 is introduced as an initial incentive to 
encourage residents to subscribe to the new service, which equates to a 
weekly cost of 58 pence for the service. 
 

4.41 Given the changes outlined the service will review the implementation and 
approach outlined and through this review consider areas for improvement 
where appropriate. The review will allow officers the opportunity to assess 
impact as well as build options going forward to seek to ensure residents 
receive a good service which is accessible. 

 
5.0      Alternative options  
 
5.1 Continue with current free of charge service. The total costs for providing this 

service are circa £672,000. To continue to provide the service in this way has 
no opportunity to produce a saving / increase income and therefore support 
the production of a balanced budget for 2024/25. 
 

5.2 The Council could introduce a higher than recommended charge for this 
service. However, based on consultation feedback and the principles within 
the newly adopted fees and charges policy this is not considered to be an 
option. 

 
5.3 The Council has a legal duty to set a balanced budget for 2024/25 the 

recommendations in this report will generate additional income which will 
help towards a balanced position for 2024/25.  

 
6.0      Implications for consideration – Financial and value for money 
 

Page 15



 

6.1 Estimated additional costs for the delivery of a charged for service are set out 
in the table below. 

Details of additional costs 
Annual recurring 

costs 
£’000 

Bin stickers and postage 39 
Scheme administration and business support 40 
Annual billing 5 
Storage  5 
Total ongoing costs  89 

 
6.2 In addition to the above, there would be initial, one off, set up costs for the 

scheme in 2024/25 of £65,000 including, scheme promotional costs - £10,000, 
initial registration and billing costs - £30,000 and collection and storage of 
unwanted bins £25,000.   
 

6.3 The survey indicated that circa 25% of households would take up the service. 
It is reasonable to assume that as residents reflect upon the convenience of 
the kerbside collection option for a single annual fee of £40, this figure is likely 
to see an uplift to circa 30% (13,290 households.) This percentage equates to a 
potential gross income of £531,000 and net income of £377,000, after 
considering the costs set out in the table above.  

 
6.4 However, to encourage early adoption, it is recommended that the scheme is 

launched with an introductory early bird offer to residents who sign up by 1 
May 2024. The recommended fee for this is £30, offering a £10 discount on 
the standard fee.  
 

6.5 Given circa 25% of respondents to the survey indicated a high degree of 
likelihood to participate in the scheme and circa 22% indicated that sign up to 
the scheme was unlikely, it is considered that in offering this reduced fee for a 
limited period would encourage a higher number of residents to participate in 
the scheme and the overall % uptake is assumed to increase to 35% (15,505 
households) as a result (60% of households taking advantage of the offer and 
40% joining the scheme on the standard fee of £40). It is estimated that this 
would generate gross income of £527,000 and net income of £373,000 in 
2024/25, after considering the costs set out above.  

 
6.6 It is estimated that from 2025/26 the net additional income will be £442,000 

based on 30% household uptake for the scheme at a charge of £40 per bin for 
the annual service.  
 

7      Implications for consideration – Legal 

Page 16



 

 
7.1 The Environment Act 2021, which incorporates the Government’s proposals 

for Consistency in Household Waste Collections, contains reference to six core 
recyclable streams to be collected from households including garden waste.  
 

7.2 On 23 October 2023 guidance was issued regarding waste reforms by the 
Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) that by 31 March 
2026, local authorities will be required to collect the following recyclable waste 
streams from all households in England: paper and card, plastic, metal, glass, 
food waste and garden waste, excluding plastic film.  
 

7.3 Within this guidance DEFRA confirmed that Local authorities will be required 
to collect garden waste, where requested and can continue to choose to 
charge for this service. 
 

7.4 The Environmental Protection Act 1990 Section 46 provides that household 
waste shall be collected without charge except in cases prescribed by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State. These Regulations include the 
Controlled Waste Regulations 2012 which lists types of household waste for 
which a charge for collection can be made. Garden waste is listed under 
Schedule 1 paragraph 4. 
 

7.5 It is likely that a contract variation will be required to the existing contract with 
Veolia limited, but based on discussions with Veolia, this is not expected to 
present an issue for either party. 

 
7.6 When the Government publishes in full its response to Defra’s consultation 

including any updated guidance from the letter received in October 2023, the 
Council will need to consider any new statutory requirements and reflect these 
within its future service delivery. 
 

7.7 The General Power for Best Value Authorities to Charge for Discretionary 
Services – Guidance on the Power in the Local Government Act 2003 considers 
that consultation with interested parties should be considered when seeking 
to first introduce charges for services. 

 
8       Implications for consideration – Human resources 

 
8.1 If implemented the scheme will require additional capacity to be introduced 

into the Waste Management team to support the effective introduction and 
management of the scheme. 
 

Page 17



 

8.2 A resource allocation of £40,000 has been identified as being required to 
enable this. At this stage the service seeks approval for budget growth to 
ensure suitable resource is in place to implement and manage the scheme. 
 

8.3 The service intends to bring a detailed staffing report to a future Joint Cabinet 
Employment and General Committee regarding the overall structure and 
staffing requirements for the waste service. This report will be informed by a 
range of in service pressures through ill health, resignation, VR / VER and 
emerging options and opportunities that are resulting from the Environment 
Act 2021 and updated guidance from DEFRA. 
 

8.4 There is likely to be increased demand on the Customer Services Centre in 
the run up to the introduction of the new service where customers opt to 
pay over the phone or where they have concerns and/or queries. This will 
be partly mitigated by the communications plan, encouraging on-line 
applications and the inclusion of pertinent information on the website e.g. 
FAQs. In addition however, provision has been made in the financial model for 
budget to support additional demands placed on the Customer Service 
Centre. 

 
8.3 The additional capacity both in terms of the waste team and customer services 

is essential to ensure the smooth transition and ongoing management of the 
scheme. 

 
9       Implications for consideration – Council plan 
 
9.1  In preparing the budget estimates for the coming financial year and updating 

the MTFP, detailed consideration has been given to the need for the Council’s 
finances to be at appropriate levels to enable the Council to deliver in full on 
the priorities, objectives, and commitments that it has set itself within the new 
Council Plan 2023 - 2027. The introduction of a charge for the kerbside 
collection of garden waste will directly support this. 

 
9.2 The preparation of sustainable and balanced budgets over the medium term 

is also a key activity in contributing to delivery of the third Council Plan 
priority ‘building a more resilient council.’  
 

10       Implications for consideration – Climate change 
 

10.1 A climate change impact assessment has been undertaken and is shown 
below. Full details contained in Appendix 1. 
 

Page 18



 

 
11       Implications for consideration – Equality and diversity 

 
11.1 An equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken which has identified no 

disproportionate impact in relation to protected characteristics, full details 
contained in Appendix 2. Whilst a charge would be levied there would 
continue to be assisted bin collections for vulnerable residents. 

 
12       Implications for consideration – Risk management 

 
12.1 Risk matrix outlined below. 

 

Description of the Risk Impact Likelihood Mitigating Action Impact Likelihood 
Reduction in corporate 
recycling attainment 
figure 

H H The council is 
committed to 
continue work to 
improve quality and 
quantity of domestic 
recycling including 
due consideration of 
the changes for 
food waste 
collection in 2026. 
To help mitigate 

M 
 
 
 
 
 
 

M 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 

reduced totals 
residents will have 
the option to 
purchase a second 
bin to enable larger 
quantities of green 
waste material to be 
collected. 

 
Lower than expected 
uptake of 
subscriptions. 
 

H M Extensive marketing 
and 
communications 
material setting out 
the advantages of 
the scheme 
compared with 
alternatives. 
Engagement already 
undertaken which 
highlights likely 
uptake. 

M L 

Requirement to return 
to FOC service. 

H L Investigate 
alternative 
opportunities 
regarding service 
delivery in line with 
legislative changes. 

M L 

The following areas 
reflect the concerns 
expressed from the 
engagement and 
consultation  

     

Potential for garden 
waste to be placed in 
black bin and end up 
in landfill 

M L Ensure signposting 
to home 
composting 
opportunities. 
Majority of residual 
(black bin) waste is 
used to generate 
energy from waste 
and so is unlikely to 
end up at a land fill 
site. 

L L 

Page 20



 

Potential for garden 
waste to be fly tipped 

M L Over 60% of 
councils in England 
already charge for 
collecting garden 
waste. This has led 
to research into the 
incidence of fly 
tipping and there 
has been no notable 
increase in 
incidences. 
Environmental 
protection teams 
will pursue fly 
tipping. 

L L 

Introduction of a two-
tier service where a 
reduced number of 
collections is offered 
to non-subscribers 

H L The management, 
delivery and 
administration of 
such a scheme 
would be 
complicated and 
expensive and 
would not support 
the development of 
a balanced budget. 
Consequently, it is 
not something the 
council is currently 
considering 

L L 

Resident confusion 
concerning how the 
scheme will work and 
how problems will be 
solved 

M M A comprehensive 
FAQ package will be 
created and issued 
with the proof of 
payment bin 
stickers. It will also 
be replicated on the 
council webpage for 
residents to refer to 
in addition to a 
range of printed 
materials to mitigate 
digital exclusion. 
Extensive promotion 

L L 

Page 21



 

of the scheme 
through all available 
CBC channels. 

A subscription service 
could adversely affect 
the less affluent areas 
of the borough. 

H M Ongoing review of 
the project will help 
identify issues such 
as this plus other 
challenges and 
opportunities. Any 
issues that emerge 
as part of that can 
be addressed as the 
service develops. 
Learning from the 
60%+ of other 
authorities that 
deliver a paid 
service. 

M L 

Loss of food waste 
collection 

M H Only temporarily as 
a separate food 
waste collection 
service will be 
introduced in line 
with legislation. This 
is intended to be in 
place by Spring 
2026. 

L H 

Increase in burning of 
garden material 

H M Environmental 
protection teams 
will monitor and 
existing legislation 
(Environmental 
Protection Act) and 
policy is in place to 
tackle this.  
https://www.chesterf
ield.gov.uk/health-
and-
environment/smoke
-bonfires-and-solid-
fuel-
appliances/bonfires.
aspx  

L L 

Page 22

https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/health-and-environment/smoke-bonfires-and-solid-fuel-appliances/bonfires.aspx
https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/health-and-environment/smoke-bonfires-and-solid-fuel-appliances/bonfires.aspx
https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/health-and-environment/smoke-bonfires-and-solid-fuel-appliances/bonfires.aspx
https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/health-and-environment/smoke-bonfires-and-solid-fuel-appliances/bonfires.aspx
https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/health-and-environment/smoke-bonfires-and-solid-fuel-appliances/bonfires.aspx
https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/health-and-environment/smoke-bonfires-and-solid-fuel-appliances/bonfires.aspx
https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/health-and-environment/smoke-bonfires-and-solid-fuel-appliances/bonfires.aspx
https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/health-and-environment/smoke-bonfires-and-solid-fuel-appliances/bonfires.aspx


 

 
Decision information 

 
Key decision number All key decisions must be in the Forward Plan at least 

28 days in advance. There are constitutional 
consequences if an item is not in the Forward Plan 
when it should have been. Contact Democratic 
Services if in doubt. 

Wards affected All 
 
Document information 

 
Report author 
Name, job title and directorate of the report author. Where possible the report 
author should be encouraged to attend Cabinet with Service Director support 
where appropriate.  
Shiley Hallam – Head of Environmental and Streetscene Services 
Ian Waller – Service Director, Leisure Culture and Community Wellbeing 
 
Background documents 
These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a material extent when 
the report was prepared. 
 
This must be made available to the public for up to 4 years. 
 
Appendices to the report 
Appendix 1 Climate Change Impact Assessment 
Appendix 2 Equality Impact Assessment 
  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Learning from other 
authorities 60%+ 
who have 
introduced fees and 
charges for this 
service. 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Climate Change Impact Assessment Tool (v1.36)
Developed by Chesterfield Borough Council 2021 

Report Name Report Name
Report date Report Date
Report author Your name
Project Notes Use this space for a brief overview of 

the project and any extra notes on 
things that aren't covered below. 

Export filename Report Name CCIA Report Date .png

Category Impact Notes / justification for score / existing work
(see guidance sheet or attached notes for more information)

Score
(-5 to +5)

Buildings Building construction
Buildings Building use
Buildings Green / blue infrastructure
Buildings
Business Developing green businesses
Business Marketable skills & training
Business Sustainability in business
Business
Energy Local renewable generation capacity
Energy Reducing energy demand
Energy Switching away from fossil fuels
Energy
Influence Communication & engagement
Influence Wider influence
Influence Working with communities
Influence Working with partners
Influence
Internal 
Resources

Material / infrastructure requirement
Internal 
Resources

Staff time requirement new post to manage the admin / proiject -1
Internal Staff travel requirement
Internal External funding
Internal 
Land use Carbon storage
Land use Improving biodiversity adaptation
Land use Natural flood management
Land use
Goods & Services Food & Drink
Goods & Services Products
Goods & Services Single-use plastic
Goods & Services Services Bin collections by veolia to decrease to around 11k bins per 2 weeks +5
Goods & Services
Transport Decarbonising vehicles
Transport Improving infrastructure
Transport Supporting people to use active travel
Transport
Waste End of life disposal / recycling Short term halt in food waste collection -1
Waste Waste volume Short term increase as bins are disposed of, increase in waste volume into black bins -3
Waste
Adaptation Drought vulnerability
Adaptation Flooding vulnerability
Adaptation Heatwave vulnerability
Adaptation

Copy to clipboard

Save to desktop

Copy alt-text

Buildings

Business

Energy

Influence

Internal 
Resources

(-1)

Land use

Goods & 
Services

(+5)

Transport

Waste
(-4)

Adaptation

+0

Chesterfield Borough Council has committed to being a 
carbon neutral organisation by 2030 (5 years and 11 months 

Generated 
26/01/24 

v1.36

Preview

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



       1 

Chesterfield Borough Council Equality Impact Assessment - Full Assessment Form 
 
 

Title of the policy, project, service, function or strategy: Paid subscription based garden waste collection service 
Service Area: Leisure Culture and Community Wellbeing  
Section: Environmental Services 
Lead Officer: Shirley Hallam 
Date of assessment: 01/24 
Is the policy, project, service, function or strategy:  

Existing  
Changed  
New / Proposed x 

 
 
Section 1 – Clear aims and objectives 
 

1. What is the aim of the policy, project, service, function or strategy? 
To introduce an annual charge of £40 to residents who wish to continue with the garden waste roadside collection service from 1 
April 2024. This would replace the current non-chargeable collection service which would cease on 31 March 2024. 
A year one ‘early bird’ annual subscription charge of £30 would be in place for any resident subscribing to the paid garden waste 
collection service before 01/5/24. 

 
2. Who is intended to benefit from the policy project, service, function or strategy and how? 
This will benefit the local community by ensuring the Council is able to continue to deliver statutory services in the most efficient way, 
in line with the approach set out in the Council’s Budget Strategy.  The Council is required to set a balanced budget each year, in 
order to continue to function.  The introduction of a charge for this service, could result in a net income growth of up to circa 
£440,000 subject to the volume of households who decide to pay for the collection service. 

 
3. What outcomes do you want to achieve?  

• To provide a more targeted service for residents. 
• To achieve income growth of up to approx £440,000. 

P
age 27



       2 

 
 
 

4.  What barriers exist for both the Council and the groups/people with protected characteristics to enable 
these outcomes to be achieved? 

The council already provides assisted collections for those who struggle to access waste collections, and that would continue with 
this proposed service. 
Information in relation to the introduction of the annual charge will be available in an inclusive manner and accessible formats such 
as large print or easy read will be provided upon request.  
 

 
5. Any other relevant background information  
Like all local authorities, Chesterfield Borough Council continues to face significant financial challenges. The sustained period of 
austerity since 2010, the ongoing risks and uncertainties over future funding arrangements, the budgetary impacts of the Covid-19 
pandemic, the cost-of-living crisis and a sustained period of exceptionally high inflation, have all impacted on the Council’s financial 
position.  

 
The Council’s Budget Strategy was approved by Council on 19 July 2023 and set out the need to drive out savings at pace, within a 
framework that was prudent, responsible, sustainable, and optimised to secure savings in the short- and medium-term to reduce and 
remove reliance on reserves, stabilising the Council’s financial position and establishing affordability of Council services.  

 
A detailed approach to addressing the budget gaps has been worked through with the Council’s Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) 
and Labour Cabinet members over the past few months drawing on the thematic interventions set out in the Budget Strategy.  
 
The current economic climate and the prevailing high rates of inflation mean that the costs of delivering services are increasing, 
making it more important than ever that all services are delivered as efficiently and effectively as possible, embedding commercial 
operating principles to how budgets are set and managed. It is imperative that all budget holders are focused on minimising costs 
and waste and maximising appropriate income opportunities.  

 
This includes the need to ensure that fees and charges are regularly reviewed to ensure that wherever possible the costs of service 
delivery are recovered and that there is no cross subsidy from other service areas. This is particularly important for areas of 
discretionary spend, where the council does not have a statutory responsibility to deliver the service. 

 
The process for reviewing income potential has been revisited to take account of emerging factors including the prevailing economic 

P
age 28



       3 

conditions and the Council’s fees and charges has been reviewed following a deep dive into all key income generating areas. This 
corporate approach to effective management of fees and charges will ensure the Council maximises commercial opportunities to 
generate income from the delivery of chargeable services. Consideration has also been given to what opportunities there are for new 
income generation from statutory and non-statutory services.  

 
On 23 October 2023 guidance was issued regarding waste reforms by the Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs 
(DEFRA) that by 31 March 2026, local authorities will be required to collect the following recyclable waste streams from all 
households in England: paper and card, plastic, metal, glass, food waste and garden waste, excluding plastic film. Within this 
guidance DEFRA confirmed that Local authorities will be required to collect garden waste, where requested and can continue to 
choose to charge for this service. 

 
Charging for garden waste collections is an example of local authorities adapting to increased pressure on public sector funding 
through the directed provision of charged-for services to those that choose to use it. 
 
The introduction of a charge for this service could result in a net income growth of up to circa £440,000 subject to the volume of 
households who decide to pay for the collection service. An initial Early Bird offer will be available and the option to take garden 
waste to household waste recycling centres (tip) will still remain for those who are able to access these sites, home composting also 
remains an option. 

 
 
Section 2 – Collecting your information 
 

6. What existing data sources do you have to assess the impact of the policy, project, service, function or 
strategy? 

Based on the Defra Consultation (May 2021), approximately 98% of local authorities in England provide a garden waste collection 
service. Of which approximately 65% charge for the service. 
 
Four out of nine Derbyshire Councils charge for collections. The fees at the time of writing across Derbyshire councils are shown  
below. 

 
Authority Annual fee Collection period Collection frequency  
Amber Valley £45 February - November fortnightly 
Bolsover  Free of charge All year fortnightly 
Chesterfield Free of charge All year fortnightly 

P
age 29



       4 

Derbyshire Dales £50 All year fortnightly 
Erewash £37 All year fortnightly 
High Peak £29 All year fortnightly 
North East Derbyshire Free of charge All year fortnightly 
South Derbyshire Free of charge All year fortnightly 
Derby City Free of charge All year fortnightly 

 
Budget conversation - The Council has engaged with residents and stakeholders on an ongoing basis through the budget process. A 
‘budget conversation’ was launched in November, initially providing a general update on the Council’s budget, and capturing 
feedback on the thematic interventions and the generality of the savings proposals via a questionnaire. There will also be focussed 
pieces of consultation and engagement on specific savings proposals with relevant stakeholder audiences throughout the budget 
conversation process. A budget conversation webpage has been established with key information. 
 
In addition to the above and to better understand residents’ thoughts on this matter and to give an indication of likely take up for the 
scheme, a consultation exercise was undertaken between 20 December 2023 and 10 January 2024. 

 
The consultation asked a range of questions to ascertain the likely take up for the scheme based on a fee being charged of up to 
£45. In considering an ‘up to charge’ this gave the service the ability to review the data from the survey to help inform a suitable price 
point was identified and recommended to ensure that the Council maximised the opportunity of cost recovery whilst at the same time 
seeking to set a reasonable charge for the service (including benchmarking neighbouring Derbyshire authorities) to increase 
potential take up of the scheme. No equality issues were identified from the data received.   
 
Comments made regarding the matter via the ongoing Budget Conversation form and also on social media have not raised any 
concerns regarding those people with protected characteristics. 

 
7. Have you identified any gaps in the information/evidence that you have regarding the policy, project, service, 

function or strategy, which may be needed in order to give proper consideration?  
It is not sufficient to say “we do not have the evidence”, you should identify gaps in the evidence and fill them in a proportionate 
and balanced manner. 

 Yes, gaps have been 
identified 

  

x No, there are no gaps  Extensive feedback has been received via social media and the budget comments form, 
enabling full consideration to be given to the proposal. 

 

P
age 30



       5 

 
 
 
 
Section 3 – Additional engagement activities 
 

8. Please list any additional engagement activities undertaken when developing the proposal and completing this 
EIA. Have those who are anticipated to be affected by the policy been consulted with? 

Date Activity Main findings 
17th Nov – 
15th Dec  
2023 

Budget Conversation Respondents were asked to take part in a short survey and answer a series of 
broad questions about where and how they think CBC budgets should be 
spent. Information gathered during the budget conversation including 
comments and individual submissions are being used to inform proposals and 
key decision considerations.  

20th Dec 
2023 – 10th 
Jan 2024 

Garden Waste survey Participants were provided with a range of questions to ascertain the likely take 
up for the scheme based on a fee being charged of up to £45. In considering 
an ‘up to charge’ this gave the service the ability to review the data from the 
survey to help inform a suitable price point. 

 
 
Section 4 – What is the impact? 
 

9. Summary of anticipated impacts. Please tick at least one option per protected characteristic. Think about barriers people may 
experience in accessing services, how the policy is likely to affect the promotion of equality, knowledge of customer experiences to date. You 
may need to think about sub-groups within categories eg. older people, younger people, people with hearing impairment etc. 

 Positive impact Negative impact No disproportionate 
impact 

Age    X 

Disability and long term conditions   X 

Gender and gender reassignment   X 

Marriage and civil partnership   X 

P
age 31



       6 

Pregnant women and people on parental leave   X 

Sexual orientation   X 

Ethnicity   X 

Religion and belief   X 
 

 
 
 

10. Details of anticipated positive impacts.   
Please provide details of any positive impacts identified in the summary table above and tick the group/s the impact applies to. Delete 
or add rows below as required.  
 

a)  

 Age  Disability  Gender  Marriage  Pregnancy  Sexual orientation  Ethnicity  Religion  
 
 
 

b)  

 Age  Disability  Gender  Marriage  Pregnancy  Sexual orientation  Ethnicity  Religion  
 
 
 

c)  

 Age  Disability  Gender  Marriage  Pregnancy  Sexual orientation  Ethnicity  Religion  
 

11. Details of anticipated negative impacts.   
 

Negative impact: 
 

Please provide details of any negative impacts identified in the summary table above and tick the group/s the 
impact applies to below. Delete or add rows below as required.  
 

Mitigating action: If action has been identified to mitigate against the negative impact, please provide details  

a)  

 Age  Disability  Gender  Marriage  Pregnancy  Sexual orientation  Ethnicity  Religion  
b)  Negative impact:  

P
age 32



       7 

 

Mitigating action:  

 Age  Disability  Gender  Marriage  Pregnancy  Sexual orientation  Ethnicity  Religion  
Negative impact: 
 

 

Mitigating action:  

c)  

 Age  Disability  Gender  Marriage  Pregnancy  Sexual orientation  Ethnicity  Religion  
 
 

12. Have all negative impacts identified in the table above been mitigated against with appropriate 
action? 

 Yes  No x N/A If no, please explain why: 
If negative impacts remain, would the decision constitute conduct prohibited 
by the act? Eg. discrimination, harassment, victimisation, failure to make 
reasonable adjustments and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under 
the act. 

 
 

13. Have you assessed the equality impact on the people who may have to implement your decision, such as 
staff or suppliers?   

Staff  Yes  No x N/A If no, please explain why 

Specific users x Yes  No  N/A If no, please explain why 

Wider community x Yes  No  N/A If no, please explain why 

 
Section 5 – Recommendations and monitoring 
 
 

P
age 33



       8 

14. How are you going to monitor the policy, project, service, function or strategy, how often and who will be 
responsible? 

Membership of the scheme will be monitored annually by the waste management team.  Ongoing performance of the scheme will be 
monitored in terms of service delivery, queries, complaints and further reviews of payment options. 

 
 

15. Summary of the Equality Impact Assessment 
Please provide a summary of the assessment, with key findings and a brief description of how the proposal has 
been developed to take into consideration protected groups, outcomes of consultation etc.  
This summary will be used in the main body of the council report. 
 
The EIA supports the strategic objective of delivering the garden waste subscription service in an equitable manner. There are no 
disproportionate barriers for those people with protected characteristics that may hinder certain groups from accessing the service.  
Has due regard been given to the Public Sector Equality Duty statutory guidance or was there a good reason why 
the duty, or particular parts of it, did not apply to that decision? 
 
The general duty requires public authorities, to have due regard to the need to: 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other unlawful conduct prohibited by the act 
• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share and people who do not share a relevant protected characteristic 
• Foster good relations between people who share and people who do not share a relevant protected characteristic 

 
X Yes             No         N/A 
 
Please provide further details if necessary 
  

 
 
Section 6 
 – Knowledge management and publication 
 

P
age 34



       9 

Please note the draft EIA should be reviewed by the appropriate Service Manager and the Policy Service before 
WBR, Lead Member, Cabinet, Council reports are produced.  
 

Name: Shirley Hallam Reviewed by Head of Service/Service Manager 
Date: 18/01/24 
Name: Allison Potter Reviewed by Policy Service  

 Date: 18/01/24 
Final version of the EIA sent to Policy Service ×  
Decision information sent to Policy Service   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 37

Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 53

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 63

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 65

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 89

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 93

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Please ask for Graham Ibberson
	Direct Line: 01246 345229
	Email  democratic.services@chesterfield.gov.uk

	3 Minutes
	4 Introduction of charging for the collection of garden waste
	Appendiz1
	Appendix 2 Gardenwaste EIA form January 2024

	6 Transform visitor information service to digital delivery and review the use of visitor information centre
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F
	Appendix G


